ABSTRACT

Title of Thesis:	THE IMPACT OF RELIGION ON HUMAN TRAFFICKING VICTIMIZATION
	Jillian Tryon, Bachelor of Arts, 2024
Thesis Directed By:	Associate Professor Bianca Bersani, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice

Human trafficking is a prevalent global issue that transcends demographic boundaries, affecting millions of individuals worldwide, yet trafficker conviction rates remain low. Addressing this complex issue requires a nuanced, victim-centered approach. Despite this necessity, current anti-trafficking policies lack sensitivity towards the needs of individuals impacted by human trafficking situations. However, there is a growing advocacy for further victim-centered strategies, which this research seeks to inform. Recognizing the significance of the role of religion in shaping individuals' experiences of trafficking, this study seeks to explore the holistic impact of religion on trafficking victimization in order to inform such victim-centered strategies.

While existing research has examined how religion could serve as an asset or risk factor, most of the literature dichotomizes religion's impact as either positive or negative. This study looks to explore religion's impact on human trafficking victimization more comprehensively by exploring how religion can serve as both an asset and risk factor for trafficking victims. By conducting a series of semi-structured interviews with members of faith-based and non-faith-based anti-trafficking organizations, this research seeks to provide a more nuanced understanding of how religion intersects with human trafficking experiences. By filling this research gap, this study contributes towards a better understanding of human trafficking by examining both the positive and negative impact of religion on individuals impacted by human trafficking victimization. Furthermore, this study demonstrates how religion can inform a more victim-centered approach to combating human trafficking, potentially reducing rates of victimization. By highlighting the multifaceted impact of religion, policymakers can develop more effective strategies for addressing the needs of trafficking survivors and preventing future victimization.

THE IMPACT OF RELIGION ON HUMAN TRAFFICKING VICTIMIZATION

By

Jillian Tryon

Thesis submitted to the Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice at the

University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Bachelor of Arts

© Copyright by Jillian Tryon 2024

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Bianca Bersani and Casey Kindall for their consistent guidance and support throughout every stage of this process. Their help has played such an important role with not only this project, but my academic career. I would also like to thank Dr. Wendy Stickle, who started this journey with me and helped me research a topic I am so passionate about. Additionally, I am extremely grateful for Jenna, Danielle, Jason, and Nick who have listened to me discuss my thesis endlessly for months and have been nothing but supportive throughout the entire process, especially when I left my charger. Special thanks to Rhiannon, Dylan, and the rest of my cohort for spending hours in the library with me and giving me critical feedback to help shape my thesis. Finally, I want to thank my family for always encouraging me and for supporting me all the way from New Jersey.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	v
Table of Contents	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
HUMAN TRAFFICKING	
THE INFLUENCE OF RELIGION	7
RELIGION AND HUMAN TRAFFICKING	10
Religion as an Asset	11
Religion as a Risk Factor	
THE CURRENT STUDY	14
Chapter 3: Data Source and Methods	14
DATA	
SAMPLE SELECTION	16
INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	
DOMAINS	19
ANALYTIC STRATEGY	
Chapter 4: Results	20
DOMAINS	21
Religion as an Asset	21
Religion as a Risk Factor	
Characteristics of Human Trafficking	
Chapter 5: Discussion	
FINDINGS AND IMPLICATIONS	
LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS	40
Chapter 6: Conclusion	42
Appendix: Interview Questions	
Bibliography	44

Chapter 1: Introduction

Human trafficking is a global issue that crosses gender, racial, and class lines, impacting virtually every demographic (Hepburn and Simon 2010). This multifaceted issue takes on various forms including labor exploitation, sex trafficking, child victimization, organ harvesting, domestic servitude, and debt bondage. Each case of human trafficking is distinct, reflecting the diverse tactics traffickers employ to exploit their victims. The way that human trafficking defies demographic distinctions in addition to the complex exploitation methods of traffickers sheds light on why human trafficking is such a pervasive issue. According to the United States Department of State (2023), an estimated 27.6 million people are victims of human trafficking worldwide at any given time. This staggering number becomes even more pronounced when compared to the global number of convictions of traffickers in 2022 which was 5,577 (UNODC 2023). This stark disparity between estimated victimization and convictions suggests a need for a reevaluation of current anti-trafficking approaches.

In an increasingly interconnected world, addressing human trafficking requires a nuanced approach, particularly at the individual level. Current research on victim-centered approaches has focused on how law enforcement should tackle criminal justice issues by putting the needs of the victims first (Goodey 2004). Current anti-trafficking policies, while well-intentioned, often lack victim sensitivity, making these policies less effective when it comes to working with trafficking survivors (Graw Leary 2015). Therefore, it is important for law enforcement to recognize the impact of their approach in order to effectively combat human trafficking. Prior research has demonstrated that an individually tailored and victim-centered approach is imperative for shaping effective anti-trafficking policy (Goodey 2004). By understanding the complexities of human trafficking in the context of diverse perspectives, policymakers gain insight into the

unique vulnerabilities and needs of victims. One effective way to implement this victim-centered approach is by looking at human trafficking through a religious lens.

Religion can function as an asset or risk factor for victims of human trafficking, serving as a medium that protects and provides support to individuals impacted by human trafficking, but also as a means of heightening an individual's likelihood of exploitation (Pertek et al. 2023). However, the majority of the current literature explores the relationship between religion and human trafficking dichotomously, focusing on how religion has *either* a positive or negative impact for victims of human trafficking. For example, prior research articles focus solely on how a particular religion has served as a risk factor, only looking at how religion can be used to manipulate individuals as well as keep individuals in their trafficking situations (Muazu 2022; Msuya 2019; Ikeora 2016; Potrafke 2016). Conversely, other articles have focused solely on how religion has served as an asset for individuals impacted by trafficking victimization, demonstrating how religion can impact individuals positively by serving as a source of resilience and protection (Pati 2014; Zimmerman 2011; Wilson 2010). This research can be puzzling because how can religion both help and hurt individuals in the context of human trafficking?

Understanding this dual nature requires a nuanced examination of the impact of religion on human trafficking victimization, yet most of the existing research tends to oversimplify this relationship. The existing literature typically generalizes victim-centered approaches without specifically addressing religion or categorizes religion's influence as strictly positive or negative. Consequently, the current literature overlooks the potential benefits of looking at how these positive and negative aspects of religion can inform policy together. A more comprehensive research approach would explore how these contrasting dynamics interact, potentially providing valuable insights into the complexities of human trafficking for policymakers and law

enforcement. Embracing a more holistic perspective that acknowledges the diverse impacts of religion, researchers can contribute to more effective strategies for combating human trafficking.

Therefore, the current research study seeks to fill this gap in the literature through a series of semi-structured interviews conducted with members from various anti-trafficking organizations. These semi-structured interviews will provide insights into their perceptions of the impact of religion on human trafficking, drawing from their experience working with victims. This research study examines the impact that religion has on trafficking victimization with the research question: How does religion impact the experiences of individuals impacted by human trafficking victimization? This study builds upon prior human trafficking prevention research but examines an alternative avenue that could help prevent trafficking victimization. It looks at human trafficking from a more victim-centered standpoint, which focuses on the individual needs and vulnerabilities of victims from a religious lens.

Chapter 2: Literature Review HUMAN TRAFFICKING

Human trafficking has uprooted the lives of millions of victims worldwide, affecting people regardless of gender, race, religion, age, and nationality (United States Department of State 2023). Human trafficking can be defined as the "recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring, force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of exploitation" (United Nations 2004: 4). The United Nations' (2004: 4) definition of human trafficking is wide-ranging as it includes sexual exploitation, forced labor or services, child trafficking, domestic servitude, the removal of organs, as well as any type of practice that is similar to slavery. While the definition of human trafficking may be considered broad, the United Nations needed to be able to encapsulate the entirety of this multifaceted issue including its capacity to exist in multiple different forms (Cockbain and Bowers 2019). The crime of human trafficking is often considered a crime that is hidden in plain sight due to its ability to occur under the radar (Hepburn and Simon 2010; Shoop 2020). Traffickers are able to keep their activities hidden by disguising their exploitative actions under the guise of a legitimate business in order to avoid detection (Shoop 2020). Due to its covert nature, communities often perceive human trafficking as a crime that happens in other parts of the world, but would never happen in their own neighborhood (Hepburn and Simon 2010). However, regardless of location, human trafficking will exist in some manner as it exists in many different forms through various tactics (Cockbain and Bowers 2019). Due to its widespread, global impact, human trafficking should be at the forefront of security issues. However, since human trafficking is considered to be a "crime hidden in plain sight," many trafficking incidents go unnoticed and therefore its prevalence is often underestimated (Hepburn and Simon 2010).

Traffickers go through great lengths to coerce their victims into trafficking situations. Most commonly, traffickers will utilize recruitment deception which occurs when traffickers prey on their victims' economic desperations, offering promises of a better life typically within a foreign country (Roby 2005). Upon arriving in a foreign country with distinct culture and language differences, victims find themselves isolated and unable to escape their exploitative situations (Roby 2005). Often, the reality of their current situations dawns too late, leaving individuals stuck in a cycle of exploitative conditions (Jones et al. 2011). These individuals find themselves in terrible working conditions and indebted to their traffickers as they were the ones that gave them this "opportunity" in the first place (Jones et al. 2011). These victims find themselves in endless cycles of debt bondage where traffickers force victims to pay a continually growing debt at inflated rates in order to keep victims in this cycle of exploitation (Basu and Chau 2004). The language and cultural barrier makes it difficult for victims to seek out help and immigration law may prevent victims from coming forward as they may face legal repercussions as well. In general, many states have some form of immigration restrictions, which could be an issue for those looking to escape as they typically should not even be in that state in the first place (Hepburn and Simon 2010). Therefore victims may fear arrest or deportation if they were to seek help from law enforcement, especially when they had been coerced into participating in illegal activities as many see themselves as offenders (Farrell, Mcdevitt, and Fahy 2008; Villacampa and Torres 2017).

To keep victims in their trafficking situations, traffickers will often utilize various threats and manipulation tactics. Traffickers will threaten to hurt victims or to have family members of their victims hurt or killed if an individual attempts to leave their current situation (Hepburn and Simon 2010). In the case of religion, traffickers will manipulate victims by claiming to have a

spiritual connection with a "higher power" and if these trafficking victims disobey their traffickers, they will not only suffer earthly punishments, but spiritual ones as well (Heil 2017). Traffickers will also create situations of dependency where victims are unable to leave their trafficking situation due to how reliant they are on their traffickers (Lutya 2012). Traffickers are able to create this sense of dependency in a variety of different ways which could include psychological manipulation, confiscation of identification documents, or creating substance or drug addictions (Cockbain and Bowers 2019). This makes it extremely difficult for victims to leave their trafficking situations as they feel as if they cannot be without their traffickers. These coercive tactics highlight the urgent need for policy interventions that prioritize the safety and well-being of individuals impacted by human trafficking victimization.

However, current anti-trafficking policies do not address the pressing need for a victim-centered approach when combating human trafficking. For example, while the U.S. Trafficking Victims Protection Act (TVPA) of 2000, the first anti-trafficking legal framework in the United States, aimed to address the issue of human trafficking comprehensively, it ultimately has been described as "limited and indirect" (Chacon 2006). Although the TVPA has been amended multiple times to provide greater resources and protections for survivors, it has not made many prevention-related changes. While other states have their own anti-trafficking protocols as well as international organizations, these actors all face challenges when it comes to directly tackling trafficking. These actors are often challenged on both the ethics and effectiveness of their approaches (Lobasz 2009). Critics argue that current human trafficking approaches are flawed as they put the security needs of the state before the needs of the victim, which is ineffective as trafficked persons are often deported, arrested, or imprisoned which ultimately could lead to revictimization (Coontz and Griebel 2004). Therefore, much of the

research has demonstrated that current anti-trafficking approaches, instead of taking into account the needs of the victim, prioritize the conviction of traffickers (Goodey 2004). In terms of crime victimization research, when law enforcement has utilized victim-centered approaches, victims have been more cooperative with authorities (Shapland, Willmore, and Duff 1985; Wemmers 1996; Hamber and Lundy 2020). In order to combat human trafficking more effectively, there needs to be more of an emphasis on looking at trafficking from a victim-centered standpoint which entails examining the vulnerabilities and experiences of each individual victim to meet their specific needs. Human trafficking scholars have suggested that future anti-trafficking policy should take a victim-centered approach to address this issue (Goodey 2004).

Therefore, focusing on a victim-centered approach is important for human trafficking research as it provides insight towards the unique vulnerabilities and needs of victims. According to the European Committee on Crime Problems, a victim-centered response focuses on keeping the victim informed, treating victims with care and respect, protecting the victim's privacy, ensuring victims have a voice, and prioritizing restitution (2010). Given the variability of human trafficking cases, it is crucial for research to look at this victim-centered approach in order to gain a better understanding of each trafficking case. Examining human trafficking within the framework of religion may offer a valuable entry point for this victim-centered approach.

THE INFLUENCE OF RELIGION

While about 84% of the world identifies with a religious group according to the Pew Research Center, there is a lot of disagreement when it comes to actually defining religion (Harrison 2006). Therefore, this study will be using a general definition of religion defining it as a system of beliefs and practices that are upheld by a community of people with a common faith (Hodge et al. 2001; Good and Willoughby 2008; Bryant-Davis 2009). With this definition of

religion, this section of the literature review will analyze the impact religion has had on an individual's thought process. While it is understood that there are people who may not give much weight to the influence or religion, there are many that do (Fox 2001). Most scholars argue that religion influences how individuals think. Research has demonstrated that religion has influenced individuals' perceptions of abortion (Hess and Rueb 2005), divorce (Call and Heaton 1990), LGBTQ+ rights (Westwood 2022), capital punishment (Rade et al. 2017), etc., demonstrating the influence religion has on individuals' perceptions. However, despite religion playing such an influential role in decision making, religion has received very little attention in terms of international issues.

The social sciences have a tendency to downplay the significance of religion, a perspective that traces back to many nineteenth-century theorists including Emil Durkheim, Auguste Comte, and Karl Marx (Shupe 1990; Buddenbaum 2002; Dalton et al. 1992). These theorists believed that religion would one day become obsolete, and this sentiment still persists throughout many social sciences today, contributing to the oversight of religion (Stark, Iannaccone, and Finke 1996; Toft, Philpott, and Shah 2011). Another reason why religion has not often been included in the literature could be because it can be an extremely difficult variable to measure as many are unsure of how to both measure it and then how to measure it accurately, especially with the lack of attention given to religion in the first place (Fox 2001). In this continuously modernizing world, some scholars argue that religiosity and therefore religion's influence, is actually increasing (Thomas 2005; Toft, Philpott, and Shah 2011; Bentzen 2021). Some scholars argue that religiosity is increasing due to the rise of adversity and insecurity in the world, while others argue that it is increasing due to it becoming public, global, and assertive (Toft, Philpott and Shah 2011; Bentzen 2021). This shift can be attributed to individuals now

having the freedom to choose their religion they practice, a choice that not everyone was able to make in the past (Fox 2001). Although the world is rapidly evolving, the lack of sufficient attention to the impact of religion in the case of international research highlights the necessity for a greater scholarly focus.

As the demand for a greater focus on the role of religious influence becomes evident, recognizing the impact that religion can have on individuals becomes increasingly important. Research has demonstrated that religion has played a significant role in helping individuals deal with traumatic events (Gow 2012). Those who have experienced trauma often use religion in order to make sense of the trauma that they have experienced or are currently experiencing (Walker et al. 2009). Whether it is through independent prayer or the reframing of events through a positive religious lens, many individuals seek to find hope in the midst of trauma (Bryant-Davis and Wong 2013). Faith-based organizations could also serve to help victims of trauma by providing congregational support as well as support from its religious leaders which could help victims cope with their trauma experience as well as contribute to this sense of hope (Bryant-Davis and Wong 2013). Additionally, research that looks at the relationship between religion and criminal desistance has demonstrated that religion can help inmates develop prosocial values and reduce recidivism rates (Clear et al. 2000; Giordano et al. 2008; O'Connor 2004). Because of the notable influence that religion has on individuals, redirecting research efforts towards understanding of human trafficking through a religious lens holds the potential to offer insights into understanding the experiences of trafficking victims.

However, research on religion has also demonstrated that religion is capable of having a negative impact on individuals. Prior literature looks at how religion can harm individuals by exemplifying how religion has been utilized to legitimize violence against women and other

religions, discriminate against the LGBTQIA+ community, and normalize patriarchal norms (Pertek et al. 2023; Potrafke 2016). Negative religious coping has also harmed individuals who have endured stressful situations, meaning that instead of using religion to help them persevere through traumatic situations, religion has the capability of causing further stress for individuals (Pargament, Koenig, and Perez 2000). Individuals in these circumstances may blame God for the stressful situation which ultimately leads to negative mental health outcomes (Pargament et al. 2000). In terms of research and criminal desistance, religion has been used to radicalize individuals within prisons (Pluchinsky 2008). While research generally focuses on how religion can positively impact individuals, it is important to acknowledge the research that has looked at religion's capacity to influence individuals negatively as well.

RELIGION AND HUMAN TRAFFICKING

Anthropologist Clifford Geertz believed that most people "find religion necessary to interpret the world around them, especially when bad things happen," demonstrating that religion can serve as a critical framework for individuals, especially in times of adversity (Fox 2001: 60; Geertz 1973). Therefore, an individual's tie to religion has the ability to influence the experiences of victims impacted by human trafficking situations. This research aims to delve deeper into the nuances of religion's influence. Religion could serve as an asset in multiple different ways where faith-based organizations can help identify and assist victims in trafficking situations as well as serve as a source of resilience (Graw Leary 2015). However, religious leaders are also capable of misusing their power and weaponizing religion in order to exploit the faiths of their victims for trafficking purposes (Heil 2017).

Religion as an Asset

Faith-based organizations which integrate religious beliefs into their work, can serve as an asset for human trafficking victims because they are better equipped to meet the needs of victims than many law enforcement agencies and legal professionals (Graw Leary 2015). Oftentimes, many law enforcement personnel and legal professionals who are designated to help trafficking victims have very little understanding of the victim's cultural values or religion (ten Kate et al. 2021). This limited awareness may contribute to the reason that many victims do not go to law enforcement or legal professionals as they are not able to adequately provide the support that these victims need (ten Kate et al. 2021). Instead, victims may feel more comfortable reaching out to faith-based organizations that do understand their values. Therefore, faith-based organizations are often better at identifying and assisting victims in trafficking situations as they have a better understanding of victims' needs (Graw Leary 2015). Research has demonstrated that when faith-based organizations pair with state agencies and non-government organizations, they are able to better help identify victims as well as identify and prosecute traffickers (Wilson 2010). Additionally, religious leaders can also identify and combat human trafficking. Leveraging their role of power and trust in the community, they can establish collaborative efforts with law enforcement as well as provide support and assistance for trafficking victims (Bernadin 2010).

Religion can also play a role in helping individuals prevent, endure, and stop trafficking situations as religion provides a pro-social framework, a framework which puts an emphasis on behaviors and attitudes that help promote positive social outcomes (Malhotra 2023). Prior research has demonstrated that religion can influence people's perception of events and therefore help victims stay resilient in difficult situations (Walker et al. 2009). By providing individuals

with a sense of support and community, religion could serve as a means to help prevent them from becoming victims, provide emotional support, as well as help pull individuals out of trafficking situations (Graw Leary 2015). The pro-social behavior that religion encourages may also help individuals endure trafficking situations. When victims are enduring and coping with trauma, a relationship with the divine may help individuals find the strength to overcome these traumatic experiences (Celinski and Allen 2012). Therefore, religion's pro-social nature provides an avenue to facilitate the collaboration between religious leaders and law enforcement in both actively addressing and preventing trafficking situations.

Religion as a Risk Factor

While religious leaders have been demonstrated to be in a unique position of power and trust, they are capable of weaponizing this power in order to exploit the faiths of their victims for trafficking purposes (Ehsan 2021, Heil 2017). Many traffickers use religion as a means of coercing victims into and perpetuating their exploitative conditions. Traffickers often capitalize on the faith of their victim and use their religion to discourage questioning or resistance, which in turn, makes it easier to deceive or manipulate victims (Heil 2017). Religious leaders and institutions may also be involved in human trafficking schemes by either turning a blind eye or contributing to trafficking efforts themselves. In these cases, religious figures claim to have a connection with a "higher power," using their position of authority to exploit victims. Disobeying the trafficker or "higher power" would lead to both earthly and spiritual punishments, so victims feel obligated to obey because they believe that is what God wants them to do (Heil 2017).

Traffickers will also take advantage of practices in different religions and use them against victims. For example, a common practice in African Traditional Religions (ATR) is

oath-taking which is often tied to various cultural and spiritual rituals (Msuya 2019). Ritual oaths and juju are "built on the fundamental theological view in ATR that God has appointed spiritual beings as rulers and judges to preside over the affairs of men," where those who were selected by God were supposed to enforce God's will (Muazu 2022: 148). Traffickers in these circumstances claim to be chosen by God and abuse these traditional oath-taking rituals to control their victims, exploiting tradition to silence them (Muazu 2022). Victims who are subject to this oath-taking ritual by their traffickers are forced to swear that they won't reveal the identity of their trafficker as well as promise to pay their debts (Msuya 2019). If these oaths are broken, illness, death, infertility, or insanity would wreak havoc on either the oath-breaker, or their friends and family, which is how traffickers prevent victims from testifying (Msuya 2019). However, these oaths are not only able to prevent victims from testifying against their traffickers, but are able to keep them in their trafficking situations as well (Ikeora 2016). Victims may refrain from seeking help out of fear of retribution or the social stigma associated with help seeking within their communities (van der Watt and Kruger 2017). Trafficking cases that involve religious exploitation are extremely difficult to prosecute as victims may not even be aware that they have the freedom to escape their trafficking situations as they are under such strong coercion from faux religious figures (Heil 2017). It is important to note that while most of the research does focus on non-dominant religions, traffickers who seek to exploit religion do not just target those who practice ATR, traffickers have a history of exploiting all religions including Christianity, Judaism, Islam, etc. as well (Pertek et al. 2023).

Although a significant amount of literature has focused on how many of the world's religions are committed to tackling human rights abuses, in some cases, religion can also be found to foster these abuses. Some religions can be interpreted as perpetuating the idea that

certain people are inherently inferior to others, which leads to the creation of riskier environments where trafficking is more likely to occur (Usman 2014). Many religions can influence cultural valuations which portray women as inferior to men (Peach 2000). This hierarchical way of thinking puts women and children in particular at risk for human rights issues (Potrafke 2016). Thus, religion has the ability "to function as a source of liberation as well as a source of oppression," for marginalized groups (Peach 2000: 66). Therefore, religious beliefs and practices could increase the likelihood of human trafficking victimization.

THE CURRENT STUDY

This current research study will look at how religion plays a role in the experiences of individuals impacted by human trafficking victimization by focusing on the perspectives of members of anti-trafficking organizations. Members of anti-trafficking organizations play a unique role in preventing human trafficking, actively engaging with survivors who share their first-hand accounts and experiences with them. This direct interaction provides valuable insights to research that helps foster a better understanding of how religion impacts individuals with experiences of human trafficking victimization. This study informs current research because it sheds light on the multifaceted role of religion as both an asset and a risk factor. The findings have the potential to inform research on victim-centered approaches which is one of the current recommendation strategies for improving anti-trafficking strategies.

Chapter 3: Data Source and Methods DATA

This research analyzed individuals who work for anti-trafficking organizations in order to gain a better understanding of how religion could serve as both an asset and risk factor for victims. To examine the role that religion plays on an individual's experience with human trafficking victimization, a qualitative approach was chosen where respondents from these various religious anti-trafficking organizations were interviewed about the victims of human trafficking that they had worked with. The interviews were semi-structured with the purpose of demonstrating how anti-trafficking organizations can provide insight for victimization research. In a semi-structured interview, the interviewer can ask specific questions and focus on overarching topics, but has the flexibility to probe deeper depending on the respondent's answer. A qualitative approach was chosen for this study due to its ability to comprehensively capture the unique perspectives of members of anti-trafficking organizations whose viewpoints are valuable when examining the influence of religion on an individual's experience with human trafficking victimization.

Interviews were conducted with different faith-based and non-faith-based anti-trafficking organizations that specialize in awareness, prevention and victim services. Although this research did not study human trafficking victims directly, this sample has worked very closely with victims and was chosen to prevent victims from being retraumatized. To ensure full confidentiality, the identities of the participants were kept confidential throughout this study and were only known to the researcher. Interviews were conducted over Zoom and some were recorded with the permission of the interviewees. To protect the identities of participants, these interviews were stored in Box, an encrypted database. Each participant was also given an ID

number, to ensure that there was no identifying information that would be able to link the participant to the study. To examine the role that religion plays on an individual's vulnerability to being trafficked, members from six anti-trafficking organizations were interviewed about their experiences with working with victims of human trafficking. Qualitative data was chosen for this study due to depth of analysis which allows for a more comprehensive understanding of the varying impacts of religion on human trafficking victims.

SAMPLE SELECTION

The selection of anti-trafficking organizations within this study were chosen by using a purposive sampling style. This style is typically used when trying to access unique populations with a particular set of characteristics. In this study, the members interviewed from each of the six anti-trafficking organizations had thorough background knowledge on human trafficking victimization, a characteristic that was essential for this research. Each of these members worked for an anti-trafficking organization in the United States which specialized in combating human trafficking by raising awareness, supporting survivors, and preventing future human trafficking incidents. Additionally, each of these members had direct contact with trafficking victims as well as had at least two years of experience with their organizations. These individuals were contacted via email. Members of anti-trafficking organization of individuals with experiences of human trafficking victimization.

In order to be included in this study's sample, members from faith-based organizations needed to have experience with both human trafficking and religion. It is important to note that all three members worked for an organization that integrated Christianity into their anti-trafficking efforts. The three members from non-faith-based organizations were also selected

due to their experience with human trafficking, but without the religion requirement. Both faith-based and non-faith-based organizations were chosen in order to examine if faith-based and non-faith-based anti-trafficking organizations had varying perspectives on the impact of religion. While the sample size in this study was small, the purpose of this research was to gain a better understanding of the role religion plays when it comes to trafficking victimization based on the insight of professionals.

Throughout this study six anti-trafficking organizations were interviewed, three of which were Christian affiliated and three of which had no faith-based affiliation. These participants were located all throughout the United States and were able to provide invaluable insight about their experiences with human trafficking survivors within their areas. However, prior connection to religion did seem to have an effect on these individuals' perceptions of the impact religion has on trafficking victimization, and therefore it is important to distinguish the difference between each of the participants. In this next section, there will be a description of each of the six anti-trafficking members using pseudonyms in order to protect their identities. Participants will also be differentiated based on whether they worked for a faith-based (FBO) or non-faith-based (NFBO) organization.

Ms. Anderson (NFBO) is a female, middle-aged participant who works with a Southern non-faith-based anti-trafficking organization that focuses primarily on female minors who had been or are currently victims of sexual abuse.

Ms. Brennan (NFBO) is a female, middle-aged participant who works with a Northwestern non-faith-based anti-trafficking organization that focuses on survivors of all ages and genders. She also has experience with working with law enforcement.

Ms. Carter (NFBO) is a female, middle-aged participant who works with a mid-Atlantic non-faith-based anti-trafficking organization. She founded and is the current executive director of her organization and works with survivors of all ages and genders.

Ms. Daniels (FBO) is a female, middle-aged participant who works with a Northwestern Christian affiliated anti-trafficking organization that focuses predominantly on minors, but has been increasingly working with adult survivors as well.

Ms. Elliot (FBO) is a female, middle-aged participant who works with a Southern Christian affiliated anti-trafficking organization that focuses on survivors of all ages and genders.

Ms. Fisher (FBO) is a female, senior participant who works with a Southern Christian anti-trafficking organization that focuses on survivors of all ages and genders. She has been involved with the anti-trafficking initiative within her church.

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

In order to determine this role, semi-structured qualitative interviews were conducted where a series of predetermined questions were asked to each of the six participants. However, given the flexible nature of this approach, participants were asked to elaborate on certain responses in order to ensure that the topics discussed were explored in detail. This exploratory approach was chosen for this study due to its capacity to reveal unexpected insights and ability to delve deeper into specific topics within the limitations of its small sample size. While other limitations may include the lack of consistency of semi-structured interviews, this interview type was the most suitable for this research because of its ability to gather the intricate details and experiences that were shared. These questions were asked specifically to gain perspective on

religion and its perceived impact on human trafficking victimization as well as provide insight on the current issues and challenges with combating trafficking throughout different areas in the United States. These interviews averaged about half an hour and nine common questions were asked to each of the six participants like "In your experience, does religion play a role in human trafficking?" and would be probed by questions like "Could you elaborate a little on how this plays out?" for more details (See Appendix for complete interview guide).

DOMAINS

To assess the themes and patterns within these qualitative interviews, this study analyzed a number of domains including: religion as an asset, religion as a risk factor, and characteristics of human trafficking. The domain religion as an asset will include findings from participants that detail how religion can be beneficial to individuals impacted by trafficking situations while the domain religion as a risk factor will detail how religion can also be used to harm individuals. Participants were also asked general questions about human trafficking and additional findings were able to be derived from these interviews under the domain: characteristics of human trafficking. The characteristics of human trafficking domain should help provide insight on these professionals' perception of human trafficking as a whole. These three domains should provide a better understanding of the multifaceted role that religion plays when it comes to trafficking victimization.

ANALYTIC STRATEGY

For this research study, thematic analysis was chosen as the strategy to examine the data collected from each of the semi-structured interviews. Following the transcription of each

interview, an inductive approach was used to analyze the patterns that emerged organically from the data. This inductive approach involved identifying and coding recurring themes across all six interviews. These themes were then further analyzed and broken down into more specific sub-themes which was able to increase the depth of these findings. After these themes and sub-themes were identified, they were sorted into broader domains which allowed for a more comprehensive understanding of the data.

Chapter 4: Results **DOMAINS**

Religion as an Asset

The first domain that was identified throughout the research process was how religion could be used as an asset in order to help provide support for victims and anti-trafficking efforts as well as help prevent individuals from victimization. When asked about their perceptions of the role of religion as an asset, many participants distinguished the role of religion as a resource from the impact of religion on individuals.

Religion and Donation

When these members of the anti-trafficking organizations were asked about their collaboration with other organizations, all six of the participants noted that religious institutions played a role in the donation of money and resources. While religious institutions contributed to all six of the anti-trafficking organizations, these organizations had differing opinions on the extent to which these religious institutions contributed. One participant noted after being asked if they had worked with any religious institutions that:

Ms. Anderson (NFBO): "There's churches that donate food to us, so like in that capacity, we do. But here specifically, you know, religious entities don't play a big part in any of our decision making or engagement when it comes to providing services, maybe the way court or law enforcement would."

While another participant noted that the church enabled the expansion of their organization and provided opportunities for survivors that would have not been possible without the donations of the church:

Ms. Fisher (FBO): "So the church provided all the financial resources and we not only built an anti-human trafficking organization. We also created a safe house... we had a safe house for girls under the age of 18 that had been trafficked and a total of 37 young ladies came through our doors."

Therefore, the participants agreed that religious institutions seemed to play a role in the donation of resources to each of the six different anti-trafficking organizations. While some participants believed that financial contributions were the extent of which religious institutions contributed, other participants believed that they had played a far greater role. Four out of the six participants believed that religious institutions had a larger impact on human trafficking prevention and believed that religious institutions are also able to help with advocacy efforts, provide survivors with support, and are able to help remove individuals from their trafficking situations.

Religion and Advocacy

Two of the participants believed that religious institutions could help with advocacy efforts. In certain instances, religious congregations had been used as a means of spreading awareness about human trafficking where one participant explained:

Ms. Carter (NFBO): "And, you know, they do a lot of advocacy, they will create speaking opportunities for their congregations to learn more about human trafficking. And we have a lot of events that we participate in order to be in front of their congregations so that they can learn about what we do and make decisions on ways to support us."

By leveraging their reach and influence, religious institutions are able to address human trafficking by helping raise awareness about this complex issue and therefore are able to drive meaningful change within the community.

Religion and Emotional Support

In addition to the advocacy efforts of religious institutions, they have also been able to

provide support for survivors. One participant provided an example for survivors who have Post

Traumatic Stress Disorder:

Ms. Daniels (FBO): "When they call in the middle of the night and they're having a night terror, then we can pray with them and just kind of talk them through that way."

Another participant noted that traffickers will often allow their victims to attend religious

institutions if they are starting to break down:

Ms. Fisher (FBO):"Traffickers often allow their victims to go to church, especially if they're starting to mentally break down. Or spin out of control if they're addicted to drugs because they get them addicted to drugs a lot. So traffickers will be like, go to church, girl, calm down, you know, so traffickers actually will allow, now they'll bring them there, they'll drop them off, they'll be waiting for them in the parking lot and then they'll take them back. So we also have to kind of watch for that as well, but even traffickers know that the church can calm the emotion down, which is very crazy."

These participants commented on both current trafficking victims and trafficking

survivors, demonstrating that individuals that have been impacted by trafficking victimization

have been able to turn to religion to cope with their trafficking experiences.

Religion and Identification & Removal

Additionally, two participants found that religious leaders were able to identify and help

victims escape their trafficking situations:

Ms. Daniels (FBO): "But even like the one I was telling you about where her Dad, it was a familial sex cult. She actually, how she came to us was through a pastor. She ended up at some church and the pastor called, in pastor, being a woman in this situation called and said, I have this person that just came to me and told us, you know, she'd been coming to our church for a little bit. So she was already even in a church, which surprised me actually. And so that was, you know, it just because that happened doesn't mean that there isn't something that's already built inside of them that knows that that wasn't right."

These participants found that religious leaders were able to play a direct role in

anti-trafficking efforts as their unique position of trust and power enabled them to be able to pull

victims out of exploitative environments and help them escape.

Religion and Resilience

Participants also have suggested that religion could also be used as a source of resilience

for victims to help them endure their trafficking situations as well as help survivors cope with the

trauma they had experienced. One participant discussed general experiences that clients had

shared with them:

Ms. Daniels (FBO): "Oftentimes you'll see, you know, a client at a point where they'll say, wow, I was never alone. How, how can somebody who's been chained in a shed or, you know, like, and beaten so badly come back and tell me you didn't feel alone in that moment, you know, like you knew that there was somebody else there."

While not all participants went into detail about the specifics of religion being used as an asset, there was a general consensus that religion could be used as a coping mechanism by victims of human trafficking. However, many participants noted that religion could also be used as a coping mechanism post victimization.

Ms. Fisher (NFBO): "One of the neatest things is that oftentimes survivors will only go to church because they feel like that's the safest place that they can just kind of go and be. And even if they're just there to listen and absorb and maybe cry a little bit, they feel like it's a very safe place."

While Ms. Fisher specifically touched on the role of religion in providing support to

survivors to help them cope with trauma. Ms. Anderson (NFBO) and Ms. Daniels (NFBO) also

emphasized the need for a safe and stable support system in order to prevent revictimization.

The findings from this domain reveal the potential for religion to serve as a significant

asset for individuals. Participants revealed that religion has the ability to positively impact

human trafficking efforts by explaining that religion helps with donations, advocacy efforts,

emotional coping, the ability of religious leaders to pull individuals out of their trafficking situations, and help individuals remain resilient. These participants from both faith-based and non-faith-based organizations found that religion overall provided a sense of comfort, safety, and community, and can help individuals endure their trafficking situations as well as help assist their healing journey. While religion can serve as a source of strength and support, participants also found that it also can serve as a risk for some individuals.

Religion as a Risk Factor

A second domain that was identified in this study was how religion could be used as a risk factor and can increase an individual susceptibility to trafficking situations. While all six of the participants agreed that religion could serve as an asset in terms of combating human trafficking, five out of the six participants believed that religion could also serve as a risk factor. When asked about their perceptions of the role of religion as a risk factor, participants identified two distinct risks: religion being used as a manipulation tactic and religion enabling victimization.

Religion as a Manipulation Tactic

Most of the participants generally agreed that religion could be used as a manipulation tactic, but participants had differing perspectives as to how traffickers were manipulating victims. For example, some participants believed that victims are manipulated by traffickers because of their desire to be closer to God:

Ms. Fisher (FBO): "You've also had so-called religious organizations that have actually trafficked people.I would like to say that they're really not religious, that they're kind of like faking their religion, but they're using it as a manipulation factor. You know, you know, once If you had a corrupt priest or pastor or religious leader and they were corrupt. Most people are trying to get to God so they'll do whatever that man in the robe says, you know people have been manipulated by the church."

A few participants felt comfortable with sharing survivor experiences which helped put

this manipulation tactic into perspective:

Ms. Daniels (FBO): "Like I said, with familial trafficking, I've had experience with familial sex cults. So basically where they have raised or born children to be their sex slaves, basically, in their homes.... Yeah I mean her dad was God. And, you know, you're going to do this in my name. And this is what we do... This is God's desire. This is what you're supposed to do. This is what he wants. And so, yeah, there's, there's a lot of that. And, they're sitting in all of that confusion because of this manipulation."

Ms. Fisher (FBO) also provided an example where entire religious institutions will be

involved in trafficking schemes whilst using religion to manipulate their victims:

Ms. Brennan (NFBO): "There was some cases with Scientology where with that religion you grow up through that religion and this is public information but there were some cases where they were forced to work on a boat and they were forced to do hard labor and if they refused they were punished and sent to the steam room or engine room. A couple of the victims claimed sexual abuse and sexual harassment, things like that. And it was all done under the church. I know that there is another church. I cannot say what church it is because I know that there is a documentary currently being made on it where there is forced labor in the chain. And again, this is God's will, this is what we do, this is what God wants you to do, so I think that's probably more common in the really larger churches."

These two participants were able to share survivor experiences with religion being used as a manipulation tactic for both sex and labor trafficking. In these cases, traffickers would claim that it was "God's will" for victims to perform exploitative acts and were able to manipulate their victims by using religion in this regard.

While some participants believed that religion itself is used as a manipulation tactic,

others believed that religious authority was the method in which traffickers manipulated their

victims. These participants argued that it was not the use of religion itself that was manipulating

individuals into trafficking situations, but instead the abuse of power that religious figures held.

This was made clear by one non-faith-based organization member:

Ms. Carter (NFBO): "Oh, for sure. I mean, we've had women who have been victimized by clergy... Someone who uses their power in a faith role, like a clergyman or a pastor who, um, um, coerces these boys and girls to perform sex acts for benefit or gain...They're using their power and their position as a leader in the church to coerce women more than I would say religion, not like God said to do it, but I, as the faith leader in this church, who you should respect and admire."

Ms. Carter makes the distinction between religion being used as a manipulation tactic and

the abuse of religious authority and believes that trafficking occurs only when there is an abuse

of this power. She explains that the power that religious leaders have over members of their

congregation can be abused in order to exploit their victims.

Religion Enabling Victimization

Religion is also able to serve as a risk factor because it could be used to enable trafficking

situations. For example, members of the church are able to enable trafficking situations by

protecting the trafficker:

Ms. Elliot (FBO): And then yes, and there's been stories, and you know, experiences we've, you know, heard about where where there's been religious abuse, and when there's been a victim that did go to somebody in a church and disclose what was happening to her, and they told her to not do anything about it, or they told her that that she needed to submit or listen to her abuser, the trafficker. Whether that was a family member in her life, someone of authority, or that was her husband, or you know spouse. And so we've seen that even be used within a trafficking situation... instead of empowering the person to leave or protecting them, they end up enabling the trafficker."

Although the church was not the direct cause of the trafficking situation, Ms. Elliot

demonstrated that religious leaders can enable traffickers by encouraging victims to remain in

their current situations.

The findings from this domain showcase how religion can be used to negatively impact individuals impacted by trafficking situations. All three members of faith-based anti-trafficking organizations as well as two members from non-faith-based anti-trafficking organizations were able to provide insight into how religion can serve as a manipulation tactic. These members explained that traffickers are able to exploit a victim's desire to be closer to God or the power that comes with being a religious leader. Additionally, two members from faith-based organizations were able to provide insight into situations where religion serves as an enabling tactic, exemplifying situations where religious leaders encourage the trafficking situation.

Characteristics of Human Trafficking

While these interviews were conducted in order to determine the impact of religion on human trafficking victimization, this third domain captures the additional insights on participants on the general issue of human trafficking. Each participant was asked about their definition of human trafficking and common challenges they found throughout their anti-trafficking efforts. Participants also highlighted the need for a victim-centered approach to be used among law enforcement.

Definition

At the start of each interview, each of the participants were asked to define human trafficking. All six participants referenced the use of "force, fraud, or coercion" for exploitative purposes, which is used within the UN's definition of human trafficking. However, multiple participants noted that human trafficking does not have a simple, concise definition, and that human trafficking is capable of taking on many forms and provided various examples of what human trafficking could look like including:

Ms. Daniels (FB): "Trafficking can be anything from being pimped out by somebody, or it can be self exploitation. So meaning you are being bought online or pictures and that kind of thing. Or it could be anything, anything in exchange of value."

Ms. Elliot (NFB): "But you know a sex buyer could easily say: 'Hey, I'll buy you some weed, or I'll give you a place to stay. But you gotta, you know, have sex with me first.' That's actually considered sex trafficking when it comes to a minor."

Ms. Brennan (NFB): "So the trafficker is getting all the money or not paying the victim what they should be paid. And it often entails I could go on forever. If it often entails a promise of something that doesn't exist. And then once they get here and are in the real job, they're manipulated. Human trafficking is about vulnerability. And traffickers traffic people for money, but they do it because they're able to find that vulnerability that the individual has, they manipulate it and they exploit it. And everyone has a vulnerability. I mean, it's just human nature."

While these broader definitions of human trafficking were all quite different, they encapsulate the complexity of the definition and demonstrate some of the various trafficking manipulation tactics. This study will specifically explore how religion could be used as one of the many manipulation tactics.

Challenges with Victimization

Each of the six participants identified similar common challenges when asked "What are some of the common challenges when identifying potential victims/survivors of human trafficking?" and "What seems to be the biggest challenge when combating human trafficking?". Throughout these interviews, three common challenges with victimization prevalence were identified including: lack of victim awareness, lack of community awareness, and the lack of a support system. Throughout the six interviews, these three challenges were identified as reasons for why human trafficking continues to remain such a prominent issue.

Lack of Awareness: Victim

Many of the participants explained that one of the common challenges faced when identifying individuals involved in trafficking situations was victims not being aware that they are being trafficked:

Ms. Brennan (NFBO): "So most victims don't know that they're victims. They just believe this is their life and this is the situation they're in. They don't know that there's a name to what is being done to them. I think that's one of the hardest things because they're hidden in plain sight. We can't find them. They don't come out and raise their hand and say, hey, I'm being victimized. I'm a victim of human trafficking because they don't know that."

Another participant added on to the sentiment that victim awareness has been a challenge

and explained that:

Ms. Elliot (FBO): "So there are times where many victims don't identify as a victim of trafficking because they may not have the language, for they may not understand that what is actually happening to them is trafficking. You know, many times the majority of victims are trafficked by somebody they know and trust, and they love, or they're in some kind of a relationship with whether that's a romantic relationship or professional relationship, like a job setting or a relationship like a family member. So if that's all they've known then they're not going to recognize that that's actually wrong and that they're actually a victim."

Ms. Elliot highlights the complexities of victim awareness noting that traffickers are

commonly loved ones of their victims and that it may be difficult for victims to identify that they

are in an exploitative situation.

Lack of Awareness: Community

Community awareness was another common challenge that participants identified when

discussing common issues with identifying victims:

Ms. Brennan (NFBO): "And just the other big problem is because there's so little awareness with the community and people in general, they don't know what they're seeing. So you can't identify human trafficking if you don't know what it looks like."

This participant believed that this was such a pressing issue because:

Ms. Brennan (NFBO): "I feel like as a country, we're not aware of the situation at hand and that the risks our children are facing every day on social media. And as a country, we don't want to be aware of it. And that's what is dangerous to our children. I don't feel like our legislators are in touch with what's going on. I don't feel like people care. When people think about human trafficking, they think about what's going on in India and Thailand and Africa. They don't know what's happening here... Nobody wants to know about it. And the more ignorant we are, the more at risk our children are and people are. People like to know that it's not happening here. It's not in my town. Not in my country. They're like, oh yeah, no, my child doesn't need to know about this. This isn't happening here."

A different participant expanded upon this idea:

Ms. Daniels (FBO): "The fact that everybody thinks it's just the overseas, they're kidnapped and they're taken overseas, you know, or they're just the missing children that never have been found or whatever, you know, and it's like just, I think that was probably the biggest issue and even still kind of sometimes is when you talk about, 'Oh, I work with survivors of trafficking,' and it's like, oh, you know, nobody thinks it happens here."

Overall, all six of this study's participants discussed the challenges of this general lack of

awareness about human trafficking explaining that it is hard to identify victims when victims do

not even know they are victims themselves and when individuals are unaware of what human

trafficking looks like.

Lack of Awareness: Law Enforcement

Many participants commented on the lack of awareness of law enforcement personnel in

terms of both education about human trafficking and their behavior when working with victims

as there was a general consensus that law enforcement has not been treating victims

appropriately. Despite these beliefs, most participants acknowledged that law enforcement

generally has "good intentions" and "are trying" where one participant explains:

Ms. Daniels (FBO): "their intentions of doing more are there. But I think because it's so underground, it's not out there. You don't see it every day. It doesn't take precedence over other things. And like, we were getting ready to do something on a regular basis with our law enforcement here. And I didn't hear from them and when I saw them, I was like you know, hey, what's going on? And they're like, yeah, we had like three murders last week and that takes precedence, you know, I mean, the guys are out there, they need to catch them. Well, yeah, so are the traffickers, you know, but because it's so underground, you don't see it. It's like, yeah, it's, it's hard to make it, make them understand and realize how important it is. And I think that there's also still that, I talk to officers all the time that have no clue about trafficking." Another participant highlights the importance of the appropriate treatment of victims by

explaining:

Ms. Elliot (FBO): "Yeah, it's so important for law enforcement to really understand the mindset of a victim, and you know they're like not going to be cooperative, and they're going to be awful to you and probably cuss you out or whatever like, but you gotta keep showing up like and keep showing them that you care, and that you're there for them. And you know that comes with the training and education like in learning how to be victim centered. These are victims that have been like so like manipulated and psychologically coerced like they're psychologically changed. So it's not like you're interviewing a rape victim. That's like, I've been raped. I want help. Like I want justice. Like usually I mean, and I could be wrong, but the victim doesn't have a strong emotional bond with the rapist, but with the trafficker they usually do. So you know, they had this strong trauma bond with them. So it's really hard for that victim. It's really hard for that to be broken. And so law enforcement have to have patience and the willingness to build that relationship and help the victim learn to trust them."

While this participant captures the issue of law enforcement's lack of understanding when

it comes to survivors of trafficking situations and the importance of law enforcement taking a

more victim-centered approach, another participant shared her experience with the mindsets of

law enforcement officers:

Ms. Anderson (NFBO): Officers and often a lot of other adults, too, will say, well, if she's going to act grown, we're going to treat her like she's grown. But that's just not the case. There's still children. And when we look at really young minors like the 12 year old, I was telling you about, you know, she got introduced to sex at such a young age, it quickly became normalized that sex for an exchange of a good is what sex is. So how could she know any different if no one was ever there to teach her or show her that this is extremely inappropriate or even keep her safe? You know, so for me, with that law enforcement specifically, it was, you know, how dense can you be? Like she is 12, you're telling me that it's normal for a 12 year old to make these choices that you're saying."

The lack of awareness about the issue of human trafficking and how to handle it has been an issue that was largely identified by participants as a challenge to combating human trafficking. Participants agreed that if law enforcement was properly educated about this issue and approached situations with victim needs in mind, they would be better apt at combating this issue. Lack of a Support System

Participants also identified many victims' lack of a stable support system as a common

challenge when asked about the biggest issues when combating human trafficking. One

participant touched on the difficulty for victims who do not have a good support system:

Ms. Fisher (FBO): Once we get victims, if they don't have like a good familial support system and they need a place to stay to recuperate. If they're a minor they're pretty much in the foster care system then if they don't have like parents to go home too. We call those community survivors or, you know, in the foster care system. If they're adults and they're trafficked. If they don't have a good support system, it's very hard for them to live, so housing is the number one challenge across the board."

Another participant went into more detail about the importance of a supportive family

unit:

Ms. Anderson (NFBO): "I think if there was more support for the guardian or the family unit so that they can stabilize and then to provide a healing and safe place for the trafficked minor I think oftentimes when I reflect on the members we have now that are still kind of in crisis mode it's because their family unit is still in crisis... I think it's it's providing that support to the family unit because we can only do so much with the individual and if they go back home to the same bullshit they're only going to hold on to so much."

One participant shared her experience with a survivor where she explained:

Ms. Elliot (FBO): "It took a year for this one girl to finally say, Okay, yes, that's what was. That's what's happening to me and that was because she was addicted to drugs, and so she was getting, you know her fix from this from her pimp. So that kind of kept her there. And you know sometimes that you know that a lot of times these traffickers and pimps, I mean, they're meeting the victims needs. So that's definitely a reason that they're staying there like they're getting their needs met. And so they may not look at programs like us, or they may not feel like they have the support system to leave or to speak up."

Ms. Elliot suggested that trafficking situations could be prevented if victims had a stable

support system. Many participants also stressed that a stable support system also can play a

protective role when it comes to preventing revictimization.

These findings were able to showcase opinions on human trafficking through the lens of anti-trafficking professionals. When prompted for their definition, each member noted that human trafficking deals with "force, fraud, and coercion," but then were able to elaborate on what trafficking can look like. Additionally participants highlighted a general lack of awareness as one of the main challenges when combating trafficking, explaining how the lack of awareness from victims, the community, and law enforcement as well as a lack of a support system contribute to the prominence of this global issue.

Chapter 5: Discussion

This current study fills a gap in the literature about the interplay of religion as both an asset and risk factor. Prior research has mostly looked at religion as solely an asset or religion as solely a risk factor, but this study argues that the role of religion is not so dichotomous. By holistically examining the role of religion on human trafficking, this research can provide insight to different victim vulnerabilities as well as different prevention and support methods. Interviews with members of anti-trafficking organizations were able to exemplify the impact of religion on individuals who have experienced human trafficking victimization. Additionally this literature is able to inform victim-centered research as it provides a specific avenue on how to inform one aspect of this highly demanded approach. These interviews helped highlight how religion can serve as both an asset and risk factor as well as called attention to the current challenges with identifying and combating human trafficking.

FINDINGS AND IMPLICATIONS

All participants acknowledged that religion could serve as an asset for victims of human trafficking; explaining that through religious institutions, religious leaders, and Christianity itself, religion can help individuals prevent and escape trafficking situations. In addition to financial and resource contributions, this study highlighted the use of religion as a source of advocacy, support and identification. These findings demonstrated that religious institutions play a role in advancing human trafficking awareness. Due to the church's ability to reach large audiences and their influential role within the community, prior research has found that they have been an effective means of advocating for social issues (Bormet et al. 2021). Thus participants found it helpful when religious leaders created speaking opportunities for their congregations so that they could raise awareness about human trafficking, an issue scholars argue that many are not familiar with due to its "hidden nature" (Shoop 2020). Participants also noted that religious organizations and leaders are also able to provide emotional support where victims are able to go to church in the midst of an emotional breakdown as well as confide in trusted members of the community about their trauma. In many cases, religious leaders were also able to identify and help remove trafficking victims from their current situations. Due to the fact that religious leaders often find themselves in positions of trust and power, they are able to play a crucial role in identifying victims and ultimately helping remove them from their trafficking situations (Ehsan 2021). Therefore, all participants acknowledged that religion could be used as a resource to help victims of human trafficking, to varying extents. These findings were consistent with the current literature, but were able to delve deeper into detail explaining the benefits of these resources.

Religion was also found to be a source of resilience for victims of human trafficking. While most of the current literature on religion and resilience is more general, this study was able to look at religion as a source of resilience specific to human trafficking situations. Participants found that religion was able to benefit individuals both during their experiences in trafficking situations as well as after they had escaped them. Religion has been found to give some victims the strength to endure their trafficking situation which is in line with prior studies which have demonstrated that religion has been able to help individuals endure traumatic circumstances (Eriksson and Yeh 2012; Gow 2012). This study also found that religion has been able to help survivors of human trafficking cope with trauma. Specifically, many faith-based anti-trafficking organizations commented on how they were able to see individuals who used religion as a coping mechanism make significant healing progress. Scholars have previously discussed these benefits when discussing how spirituality and religion could be used as a source of posttraumatic growth and transformation for general trauma (Eriksson and Yeh 2012).

Religion was also identified as a means to coerce and enable victimization. It is important to acknowledge that Christianity was not the cause of any of the trafficking situations discussed throughout this study, but was instead used as a tactic by traffickers to manipulate their victims or used by religious leaders to enable victimization. While the prior literature has focused on less dominant religions when examining how religion could be used as a risk factor, this study highlights that any religion could be used as a means to enable victimization. However, most of the existing literature explores the role of non-dominant religions as a risk factor, while this study provides insight to how dominant religions could use religion as a tactic by traffickers as well.

Religion was demonstrated to be used as a manipulation tactic in order to force and keep individuals in trafficking situations. A common manipulation tactic was traffickers would either claim to be some "higher power" or claim to have a spiritual connection with one to control their victims. Due to religion's influence over an individual's actions and perceptions of events, many individuals fall victim to this deception and are unknowingly exploited in their attempts to be closer to God (Fox 2001). This has also occurred with religious leaders where they will use their position of power and religious authority to exploit individuals (Heil 2017). However, there were some discrepancies in what participants believed to be the trafficking manipulation tactic of religious leaders. Both faith-based and non-faith-based members believed that religious leaders would use religion as a manipulation tactic making claims that "God is speaking to them" to force victims into exploitative situations. However some non-faith-based members believed that religious leaders are able to abuse their positions of power in order to traffick their victims, but religion itself did not actually have an influence. While some participants did not agree on the trafficking tactics that religious leaders utilize for exploitation purposes, they did agree that religion could serve as a risk factor in terms of human trafficking.

Religious leaders have also been found to enable human trafficking situations where they use their position of power to discredit the victim and empower the trafficker by convincing them to stay in their current situations. In these circumstances, religious leaders were informed about potential trafficking victimizations and due to the perceived dynamic of the trafficker and victim, religious leaders would tell victims "to not do anything about it." Participants suggested that religious leaders were more likely to enable traffickers in cases where victims were family members and female which is supported by the literature that demonstrates that some religions

have histories of perpetuating the idea that a certain gender or race is inferior (Pertek et al. 2023; Potrafke 2016).

This study also identified variations in perception regarding the impact of religion based on whether the participant belonged to a faith-based organization (FBO) or a non-faith-based organization (NFBO). Participants who were members of faith-based organizations were more likely to perceive religion as having a greater impact on human trafficking than members of non-faith-based organizations. While the three members of the FBOs had similar perceptions of the impact that religion had on human trafficking, the perceptions of the NFBOs differed. One NFBO member believed that religion had no influence on human trafficking, while another NFBO member suggested a moderate impact. A third NFBO participant held a similar perspective to the three faith-based organizations, meaning that four out of the six participants asserted that religion is able to have a strong impact on human trafficking.

Additional findings hinted at the challenges faced when identifying and combating human trafficking and put great emphasis on the general lack of awareness of individuals about this issue. Highlighting the lack of victim, community, and law enforcement awareness, participants generally noted that if people were more informed about human trafficking, then human trafficking would not be as prevalent. Participants found that the lack of victim awareness about human trafficking provides a challenge to identifying individuals who are victims of human trafficking because they are not even aware they are being trafficked themselves. Victims in these circumstances may not understand the reality of victimization or may see themselves as offenders in the case of individuals who are forced to commit illegal acts (Villacampa and Torres 2017). The lack of community awareness was also identified as an identification issue as

individuals are so often unaware of what human trafficking looks like and are not aware that this is an issue that occurs within the United States (Hepburn and Simon 2010).

Law enforcement methods of handling trafficking situations were also recognized as one of the many issues faced when combating trafficking because of their lack of victim sensitivity. Participants commented that law enforcement personnel were generally uneducated about the issue of human trafficking and were not trained in handling victims. Many of those in law enforcement fail to understand the needs of trafficking victims and treat them inappropriately as well, with participants highlighting that some officers possessed victim-blaming mentalities, blaming and often criminalizing victims for taking part in illegal acts. This ultimately leads to distrust in law enforcement officials and causes victims to be less likely to seek out help (ten Kate et al. 2021). In search of other trusted authority figures, many victims would turn to religious leaders instead to help them cope and escape their trafficking situations. The issues participants identified with law enforcement highlight the need for a victim-centered approach. While victim-centered human trafficking literature remains broad and does not extensively explore specific factors which would be able to address victim needs, this research highlights the significance of looking at the impact of religion. By looking at religion as a specific influence on individuals affected by human trafficking, this study contributes to victim-centered research. Being able to address the individual needs of victims is important in order to effectively combat human trafficking. If law enforcement officials changed the way that they approached combating human trafficking, approaching each situation with the needs of each victim in mind, individuals impacted by human trafficking situations may feel more comfortable turning to law enforcement for help and ultimately help reduce the number of individuals impacted by victimization.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

It is important to acknowledge that there are several limitations that may impact the interpretation of these findings. While this study sought to engage with a diverse array of faith-based anti-trafficking organizations, it was only able to reach Christian-based organizations within the time constraints. This restriction is a limitation of this study and highlights the need for future research to take a more holistic approach. In order to understand the complex interplay between religion and human trafficking, future research should examine how religion impacts human trafficking beyond the constraints of a singular faith. This broader exploration should include various religious frameworks to gain a more comprehensive understanding of how religion impacts human trafficking by not just looking at the impact from the perspective of a singular religion.

The current study is also confined to interviews conducted solely with individuals from anti-trafficking organizations within the United States, a limitation that can be viewed as having regional implications. It is important to note that the United States holds a Tier 1 status in the Trafficking in Persons Report (TIP Report) for the year 2023. A Tier 1 ranking indicates that the country is making effective efforts to combat human trafficking and has demonstrated substantial progress in addressing this issue (Trafficking in Persons Report 2023). Focusing solely on members of anti-trafficking organizations within the United States, this study is unable to look at countries with different human trafficking prevalences and therefore is not able to explore the impact of religion on human trafficking across different global contexts. Future studies may want to look at religion's multifaceted impact within different geographical scopes, looking at countries with varying TIP Report rankings.

Another limitation of this research is that it only captures the perspectives of individuals who work with survivors of human trafficking, but not the perspectives of the survivors themselves. This was a deliberate choice made with the intention of preventing potential retraumatization of survivors during the interview process. However, by relying solely on the perspectives of members of anti-trafficking organizations, there is a risk of diluting the authenticity and depth of survivor experiences. While there is an ethical trade-off that should be considered heavily, future inclusion of survivor perspectives may offer a more accurate understanding of this issue that anti-trafficking professionals may not be able to provide.

This research has the potential to also provide insight to research on the victim-centered framework. Prior research has suggested that human trafficking policy would benefit from a victim-centered approach (Goodey 2004). Research on the issues with combating human trafficking also highlight the lack of victim sensitivity within legal professional approaches which has caused victims to distrust legal professionals and ultimately dissuade them from seeking help (ten Kate et al. 2021). Looking at human trafficking through a religious lens would allow scholars to understand one of the many factors that contribute to a victim-centered approach. Current victim-centered research focuses on the general needs of victims but does not explore in depth individual factors that would help inform these different needs. Therefore, this study finds that there is a demand for victim-centered research to be explored through a religious lens as it would contribute to the better understanding of a victim's needs.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

After conducting interviews with members from both faith-based and non-faith-based anti-trafficking organizations across the United States, it became apparent that current strategies that seek to combat human trafficking often overlook the needs of individual victims. The current research study revealed several insights into how to account for the needs of individuals by looking at how religion shapes the experiences of those impacted by human trafficking. This study found that religion can serve as both an asset and risk factor which helps inform research. By recognizing the different ways that religion can intersect with trafficking, these findings can have important implications for policy. If law enforcement incorporated cultural and religious sensitivity into their practices, they would be able to better support trafficking survivors after learning how to account for their individual needs and vulnerabilities. The current literature has demonstrated that adopting victim-centered approaches would increase law enforcement effectiveness in addressing human trafficking (Goodey 2004). This research fills the gap in the current literature as it looks at the interplay of religion as both an asset and risk factor instead of looking at the role of religion dichotomously. By examining religion's interplay, this study was able to explore the various ways Christianity could be used to help and harm individuals which in turn could help inform anti-trafficking policy.

Appendix: Interview Questions

- 1) Can you tell me a little about your role with XXXXX organization?
 - a) PROBE: How long have you been working with XXXXX organization?
 - b) PROBE: What does a typical day look like for you?
- 2) Could you describe to me what human trafficking is?
- 3) What are some of the common challenges when identifying potential victims/survivors of human trafficking?
- 4) Do you collaborate with other organizations to prevent human trafficking (ex. NGO's, law enforcement, religious organizations)
- 5) Do you believe that law enforcement has been tackling human trafficking in the right way?
 - a) PROBE: Why or Why not?
- 6) Do you think that current anti-trafficking policy is effective?
 - a) PROBE: Why or Why not?
- 7) In your experience, does religion play a role in human trafficking?
 - a) PROBE: Could you elaborate a little on how this plays out?
 - b) PROBE: Would you say that religion is a protective factor for human trafficking?
 - i) Have you encountered situations where beliefs or practices have protected individuals from trafficking situations
 - c) PROBE: Would you say that religion is a risk factor for human trafficking?
 - i) Have you encountered situations where beliefs or practices have made individuals vulnerable to human trafficking
- 8) What seems to be the biggest challenge when combating human trafficking?
- 9) What has been your favorite part about doing the work you do?
 - a) PROBE: Can you tell me about something that makes you feel hopeful for the future of individuals impacted by human trafficking?

Bibliography

"2023 Trafficking in Persons Report." *United States Department of State*. Retrieved March 5, 2024 (https://www.state.gov/reports/2023-trafficking-in-persons-report/).

"About Human Trafficking." United States Department of State. Retrieved October 3, 2023 (https://www.state.gov/humantrafficking-about-human-trafficking/).

"Report on the Standing and Rights of Victims in Criminal Proceedings." *European Committee* on Crime Problems. Retrieved March 4, 2024.

- "United Nations. (2004). 2000 United Nations Conventions against Transnational Organised Crime and Its Supporting Protocol: The Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. Retrieved from Http://Www.Unodc.Org/Documents/Treaties/UNTOC/ Publications/TOC%20Convention/TOCebook-e.Pdf."
- Basu, Arnab K., and Nancy H. Chau. 2004. "Exploitation of Child Labor and the Dynamics of Debt Bondage." *Journal of Economic Growth* 9(2):209–38. doi: 10.1023/B:JOEG.0000031427.20051.38.
- Bentzen, Jeanet Sinding. 2021. "Religiosity and Development." in Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Economics and Finance.
- Bernadin, Regina. 2010. A call to action: An overview on the role of Christian organizations in combating human trafficking in the United States. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 2(2), 87-94.

- Bormet, Mona, Jane Kishoyian, Yoram Siame, Ngalande Ngalande, Kathy Erb, Kathryn Parker,
 Douglas Huber, and Karen Hardee. 2021. "Faith-Based Advocacy for Family Planning
 Works: Evidence From Kenya and Zambia." *Global Health: Science and Practice*9(2):254–63. doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-20-00641.
- Bryant-Davis, T. 2009. Clinical implications of spirituality, religion, and child trauma recovery. Presentation at the Culture and Trauma Speaker Series, Part III, webinar, Los Angeles, CA.
- Bryant-Davis, Thema, and Eunice C. Wong. 2013. "Faith to Move Mountains: Religious Coping, Spirituality, and Interpersonal Trauma Recovery." *American Psychologist* 68(8):675–84. doi: 10.1037/a0034380.
- Buddenbaum, Judith M. 2002. "Social Science and the Study of Media and Religion: Going Forward by Looking Backward." *Journal of Media and Religion* 1(1):13–24. doi: 10.1207/S15328415JMR0101 3.
- Call, Vaughn RA, and Tim B. Heaton. "Religious influence on marital stability." *Journal for the scientific study of religion* (1997): 382-392.
- Celinski, Marek, and L. M. Allen. 2012. "Resilience and Resourcefulness in Predicting Recovery Outcome." *Individual Trauma: Recovering from Deep Wounds and Exploring the Potential for Renewal* 139–52.
- Chacon, Jennifer M. n.d. "Misery and Mypoia: Understanding the Failures of U.S. Efforts to Stop Human Trafficking."
- Clear, Todd R., Patricia L. Hardyman, Bruce Stout, Karol Lunken, and Harry R. Dammer. 2000.
 "The Value of Religion in Prison: An Inmate Perspective." *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice* 16(1):53–74. doi: 10.1177/1043986200016001004.

- Cockbain, Ella, and Kate Bowers. 2019. "Human Trafficking for Sex, Labour and Domestic Servitude: How Do Key Trafficking Types Compare and What Are Their Predictors?" *Crime, Law and Social Change* 72(1):9–34. doi: 10.1007/s10611-019-09836-7.
- Coontz, Phyllis, and Catherine Griebel. n.d. "International Approaches to Human Trafficking: The Call for a Gender-Sensitive Perspective in International Law."
- Dalton, Lisle, Phillip E. Hammond, Julie Ingersoll, David Machacek, Elizabeth Pullen, Roger Valdez, and Brian Wilson. "Bringing Tocqueville In: Remedying a Neglect in the Sociology of Religion." *Journal for the scientific study of religion* 31, no. 4 (1992): 395-407.
- Ehsan, Khaled. 2021. "Exploring Power Dynamics of Religious Leaders." *KAICIID–Beyond Dialogue Series* 101.
- Farrell, Amy, Jack Mcdevitt, and Stephanie Fahy. 2008. "Understanding and Improving Law Enforcement Responses to Human Trafficking, Final Report, 2008, June." *Human Trafficking Data Collection and Reporting Center Research and Technical Reports*.
- Fox, Jonathan. 2001. "Religion as an Overlooked Element of International Relations." *International Studies Review* 3(3):53–73. doi: 10.1111/1521-9488.00244.
- Geertz Clifford. 1973. "Religion as a Cultural System," in Banton, ed., Anthropological Approaches to the Study of Religion, and The Interpretation of Culture.
- Giordano, Peggy C., Monica A. Longmore, Ryan D. Schroeder, and Patrick M. Seffrin. 2008. "A Life-Course Perspective on Spirituality and Desistance from Crime*." *Criminology* 46(1):99–132. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-9125.2008.00104.x.
- Good, M., and Teena Willoughby. 2008. Adolescence as a sensitive period for spiritual development. Child Development Perspectives, 2, 32–37.

Goodey, Jo. 2004. "Sex Trafficking in Women from Central and East European Countries: Promoting a 'Victim-Centred' and 'Woman-Centred' Approach to Criminal Justice Intervention." *Feminist Review* 76(1):26–45. doi: 10.1057/palgrave.fr.9400141.

- Gow, M., Kathryn. 2012. "Overview: Conceptualising Trauma as a Deep Wound While Continuing to Live One"s Life."*Individual Trauma: Recovering from Deep Wounds and Exploring the Potential for Renewal*, 1-3.
- Graw Leary, Mary. 2018. Religious Organizations as Partners in the Global and Local Fight Against Human Trafficking, The Review of Faith & International Affairs, 16:1, 51-60, DOI: 10.1080/15570274.2018.1433583
- Hamber, Brandon, and Patricia Lundy. 2020. "Lessons from Transitional Justice? Toward a New Framing of a Victim-Centered Approach in the Case of Historical Institutional Abuse."
 Victims & Offenders 15(6):744–70. doi: 10.1080/15564886.2020.1743803.
- Harrison, Victoria S. 2006. "The Pragmatics of Defining Religion in a Multi-Cultural World." *International Journal for Philosophy of Religion* 59(3):133–52. doi: 10.1007/s11153-006-6961-z.
- Heil, Erin C. 2017. "It Is God's Will: Exploiting Religious Beliefs as a Means of Human Trafficking." *Critical Research on Religion* 5(1):48–61. doi: 10.1177/2050303216676520.
- Hepburn, Stephanie, and Rita J. Simon. 2010. "Hidden in Plain Sight: Human Trafficking in the United States." *Gender Issues* 27(1):1–26. doi: 10.1007/s12147-010-9087-7.
- Hess, Jennifer A., and Justin D. Rueb. 2005. "Attitudes toward Abortion, Religion, and Party Affiliation among College Students." *Current Psychology* 24(1):24–42. doi: 10.1007/s12144-005-1002-0.

- Hodge, David R., Paul Cardenas, and Harry Montoya. 2001. "Substance Use: Spirituality and Religious Participation as Protective Factors among Rural Youths." *Social Work Research* 25(3):153–61. doi: 10.1093/swr/25.3.153.
- Jones, Loring, David Engstrom, Patricia Hilliard, and Decha Sungakawan. 2011. "Human Trafficking between Thailand and Japan: Lessons in Recruitment, Transit and Control." *International Journal of Social Welfare* 20(2):203–11. doi:

10.1111/j.1468-2397.2009.00669.x.

- Lobasz, Jennifer K. 2009. "Beyond Border Security: Feminist Approaches to Human Trafficking." *Security Studies* 18(2):319–44. doi: 10.1080/09636410902900020.
- Lutya, T. M. (Thozama Mandisa). 2012. "An Integrated Theoretical Framework to Describe Human Trafficking of Young Women and Girls for Involuntary Prostitution." Intech.
- Msuya, Norah Hashim. 2019. "Traditional Juju Oath and Human Trafficking in Nigeria: A Human Rights Perspective." *De Jure* 52:138–62.
- Muazu, Rahina. 2022. "Oath-Taking and the Role of African Traditional Religion in Human Trafficking." *Handbook of Research on Present and Future Paradigms in Human Trafficking* 143–62. Retrieved February 28, 2023 (https://www.igi-global.com/chapter/oath-taking-and-the-role-of-african-traditional-religi on-in-human-trafficking/www.igi-global.com/chapter/oath-taking-and-the-role-of-african -traditional-religion-in-human-trafficking/303835).
- O'Connor, Tom. 2004. "What Works, Religion as a Correctional Intervention: Part II." *Transforming Corrections*. Retrieved March 19, 2023 (https://transformingcorrections.com/what-works-part-ii/).

Pargament, Kenneth I., Harold G. Koenig, and Lisa M. Perez. 2000. "The Many Methods of

Religious Coping: Development and Initial Validation of the RCOPE." *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 56(4):519–43. doi:

10.1002/(SICI)1097-4679(200004)56:4<519::AID-JCLP6>3.0.CO;2-1.

Peach, Lucinda Joy. 2000. "Human Rights, Religion, and (Sexual) Slavery." *The Annual of the Society of Christian Ethics* 20:65–87.

Pertek, Sandra, Karen Block, Lisa Goodson, Pakinam Hassan, Jeanine Hourani, and Jenny Phillimore. 2023. "Gender-Based Violence, Religion and Forced Displacement: Protective and Risk Factors." *Frontiers in Human Dynamics* 5. doi: 10.3389/fhumd.2023.1058822.

- Pluchinsky, Dennis A. 2008. "Global Jihadist Recidivism: A Red Flag." *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 31(3):182–200. doi: 10.1080/10576100701878457.
- Potrafke, Niklas. 2016. "Policies against Human Trafficking: The Role of Religion and Political Institutions." *Economics of Governance* 17(4):353–86. doi: 10.1007/s10101-016-0181-5.
- Rade, Candalyn B., Ashley M. Holland, Jordan B. Gregory, and Sarah L. Desmarais. 2017.
 "Systematic Review of Religious Affiliations and Beliefs as Correlates of Public
 Attitudes toward Capital Punishment." *Criminal Justice Studies: A Critical Journal of Crime, Law and Society* 30(1):63–85.
- Roby, Jini. L. (2005). Women and children in the global sex trade: Toward more effective policy. *International Social Work*, *48*(2), 136-147. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872805050206
- Shapland, Joanna, Jon Willmore, and Peter Duff. *Victims in the criminal justice system*. Aldershot: Gower, 1985.
- Shoop, Laura. 2020. "Uncovering the 'Hidden Crime' of Human Trafficking by Empowering Individuals to Respond." *Georgia State University Law Review* 36.

- Shupe, Anson. 1990. "The Stubborn Persistence of Religion in the Global Arena," in Emile
 Sahliyeh, ed., Religious Resurgence and Politics in the Contemporary World (New York:
 State University of New York Press, 1990), p. 19; Brian S. Turner, Religion and Social
 Theory, 2d ed. (London: Sage, 1990).
- Stark, Rodney, Laurence R. Iannaccone, and Roger Finke. 1996. "Religion, Science, and Rationality." *The American Economic Review* 86(2):433–37.
- Thomas, Scott M. 2005. *The Global Resurgence of Religion and the Transformation of International Relations*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan US.
- Toft, Monica Duffy, Daniel Philpott, and Timothy Samuel Shah. 2011. God's Century: Resurgent Religion and Global Politics. W. W. Norton & Company.

ten Kate, Laurens, Arjan W. Braam, Rijk van Dijk, Jette van Ravesteyn, and Fenna Bergmans.
2021. "Professional and Religious Approaches to Care for West African Victims of Human Trafficking in The Netherlands: The Challenge of New Pentecostalism." *Journal* of Immigrant & Refugee Studies 19(4):511–25. doi: 10.1080/15562948.2020.1839993.

Usman, Usman Mikail. 2014. "TRAFFICKING IN WOMEN AND CHILDREN AS VULNERABLE GROUPS: TALKING THROUGH THEORIES OF INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS."

Villacampa, Carolina, and Núria Torres. 2017. "Human Trafficking for Criminal Exploitation: The Failure to Identify Victims." *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research* 23(3):393–408. doi: 10.1007/s10610-017-9343-4.

- Walker, Donald F., Henri Webb Reid, Tiffany O'Neill, and Lindsay Brown. 2009. "Changes in Personal Religion/Spirituality during and after Childhood Abuse: A Review and Synthesis." *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy* 1(2):130–45. doi: 10.1037/a0016211.
- van der Watt, Marcel, and Beatri Kruger. 2017. "Exploring 'Juju' and Human Trafficking: Towards a Demystified Perspective and Response." *South African Review of Sociology* 48(2):70–86. doi: 10.1080/21528586.2016.1222913.

Wemmers, Jo-Anne M. Victims in the criminal justice system. Kugler publications, 1996.

- Westwood, Sue. 2022. "Religious-Based Negative Attitudes towards LGBTQ People among Healthcare, Social Care and Social Work Students and Professionals: A Review of the International Literature." *Health & Social Care in the Community* 30(5):e1449–70. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13812.
- Wilson, Rachael. 2010. "The synergy of modern abolition: Inter-agency cooperation between state agencies, religious communities, faith-based organizations, and NGOs against human trafficking". Baylor University.